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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA COMPLAINT
-v. - Violations of
y : 18 U.S.C. §§ 666, 371 &
2
ALEX LICHTENSTEIN, :
a/k/a “Shaya,” County of Offense:
: New York
Defendant.
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SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, ss.:

JOSEPH DOWNS, being duly sworn, deposes and says that
he is a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation

(*FBI”) and charges as follows:

COUNT ONE
(Bribery)

1 In or about April 2016, in the Southern District
of New York and elsewhere, ALEX LICHTENSTEIN, a/k/a “Shaya,” the
defendant, willfully and knowingly did corruptly give, offer,
and agree to give a thing of value to a person, with intent to
influence an agent of an organization of a State govermment, and
an agency thereof, in connection with business, transactions,
and series of transactions of such organization, government, and
agency involving a thing of value of $5,000 and more, to wit,
LICHTENSTEIN offered bribes to members of the New York City
Police Department ("NYPD”) in order to obtain gun licenses from
the NYPD’s License Division for individuals who had paid

LICHTENSTEIN thousands of dollars for his assistance in
obtaining such gun licenses. .

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 666 and 2.)
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COUNT TWO
(Conspiracy)

2. From in or about 2013, up to and including in or
about February 2016, ALEX LICHTENSTEIN, a/k/a “Shaya,” the .
defendant, and others known and unknown, willfully and knOW}ngly
did combine, conspire, confederate and agree together and w1t@
each other to commit offenses against the United States, to wit,
to violate Title 18, United States Code, Sec;ion 666.

3. It was a part and an object of the comspiracy that
ALEX LICHTENSTEIN, a/k/a “Shaya,” the defendant, and others known
and unknown, willfully and knowingly would and did corruptly
give, offer, and agree to give a thing of value to a person, with .
intent to influence an agent of an organization of a State
government, and an agency thereof, in connection with business,
transactions, and series of transactions of such organization,
government, and agency involving a thing of value of $5,000 and
more.

4, In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the
illegal object thereof, the following overt acts, among others,
was committed in the Southern District of New York:

a. From at least in or about June 2015 to in or
about December 2015, ALEX LICHTENSTEIN, a/k/a “Shaya,” the
defendant, traveled to One Police Plaza in Manhattan, New York,

approximately two times per week to meet with an officer of the
NYPD’s License Division.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.)

The bases for my knowledge and the foregoing charges
are, in part, as follows: '

5. I have been a Special Agent with the FBI for
approximately 11 years. I am currently assigned to a public
corruption squad in the FBI’'s New York Field Office. As a Special
Agent, I have participated in investigations involving the bribing
of public officials and law enforcement officers.

. 6. Since at least in or about 2013, I have been
involved in an investigation being conducted jointly by the FBI
and the Internal Affairs Bureau (“IAB”) of the NYPD into among
other things, allegations of misconduct by law enforcemeht
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personnel. IAB is the unit within the NYPD that investigates
police misconduct. L

T The information contained in this affidavit is
based upon my personal knowledge, as well as information obtained
during this investigation, directly or indirectly, from other
sources and agents. Because this affidavit is prepared for
limited purposes, I have not set forth each and every fact I have
learned in connection with this investigation. Where
conversations and events are referred to herein, they are related
in substance and in part.

The NYPD License Division and Relevant Individuals

8. Based on my discussions with relevant personnel of
the NYPD, including NYPD officers in the NYPD License Division, my
review of publicly available information, and my training and
experience, I have learned the following:

a. The NYPD License Division, located at One

Police Plaza in Manhattan, is the entity within the NYPD
responsible for approving or disapproving all applications
(“Applications”) for handgun licenses in New York City.

b. Among the types of handgun licenses issued by

the NYPD License Division are (i) a premises license, which
permits its holder to have a handgun in the holder’s home (a
“premises License”); (ii) a license for retired law enforcement
personnel (a “Retiree License”); (iii) a limited carry license,
which permits its holder to have a handgun in the home or business
and to carry the handgun for specified, limited purposes and at
limited times (a “Limited Carry License”); and (iv) a full carry
license, which permits its holder to carry a handgun anywhere in
New York State at all times, but only for justified business

purposes (a “Full Carry License”) .

c. The NYPD License Division receives
approximately 5,000 Applications for gun licenses a year. Limited
and Full Carry Licenses are a small fraction of the licenses
issued by the NYPD License Division annually.

d. After an Application is received, the NYPD
License Division conducts an investigation of the applicant before
electing to approve or disapprove the Application. The
igvestigation includes (i) a review of the applicant’s criminal
history, including summonses, arrests, and convictions; (ii) a
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review of the applicant’s mental health history; (iii) a
verification of the details of the application; (iv) an in-person
interview of the applicant; and (v) an investigation into the
business need for Limited and Full Carry Licenses.

' e. Certain findings, such as a prior felony
conviction, result in the automatic disapproval of an applicant.

E. Pursuant to New York State Law, the NYPD
License Division has discretion to reject gun license Applications
for additional reasons, such as moral character, mental health
issues, or substance abuse issues. On its website, the NYPD
License Division indicates that it may reject Applications if the
investigation reveals a history of arrest, driving infractions, or
domestic violence incidents, among other reasons.

g. Typically, the processing, investigation, and
approval or disapproval of an Application takes several months.
For Limited and Full Carry Licenses, it can take even longer, and
in the case of Full Carry Licenses, in excess of one year.

9. Based on my discussions with NYPD personnel and my
review of NYPD records, I learned the following:

a. Sergeant-1 is an NYPD Sergeant who has been
assigned to the NYPD License Division for more than a decade.
Sergeant-1 has the authority and capacity to approve Applications
for gun licenses. 1In addition, Sergeant-1 is responsible for
investigating existing gun license holders who are arrested, given
summonses, or otherwise interact with law enforcement to determine
whether their licenses should be revoked, and for suspending

licenses pending further investigation.

b. Officer-1 is an NYPD Officer who is assigned
to the License Division and is responsible for, among other
things, investigating Applications.

c. Deputy Inspector-1 is the Commanding Officer
of the License Division.




The Defendant’s Bribes in Order to Obtain Gun Licenses from the
NYPD License Division

10. Based on my review of publicly available
information, I know that ALEX LICHTENSTEIN, a/k/a “Shaya,” the
defendant, is a member of the Shomrim, based in Borough Park,
Brooklyn. The Shomrim is a volunteer, ostensibly unarmed Orthodox
Jewish patrol society whose mission includes combatting criminal
activity and locating missing people.

11. This investigation is based in part on information
provided by an officer of the NYPD (“Officer-2”) who knows ALEX
LICHTENSTEIN, a/k/a “Shaya,” the defendant. Based on my
discussions with Officer-2, I learned the following:

a. Officer-2 is familiar with LICHTENSTEIN as a
member of the community and the Shomrim. LICHTENSTEIN is
acquainted with numerous members of the 66™ precinct, which
covers Borough Park, Brooklyn.

b. In early April 2016, LICHTENSTEIN approached
Officer-2 in an attempt to bribe Officer-2 into assisting
LICHTENSTEIN in obtaining gun licenses for various individuals
from the NYPD License Division. LICHTENSTEIN told Officer-2, in
sum and substance, that he (LICHTENSTEIN) previously had
connections inside the License Division who recently had shut him
out. LICHTENSTEIN stated that he charged members of the community
several thousand dollars per license to assist them in obtaining
licenses through his connections in the License Division.

c. Although Officer-2 does not work in or with
the License Division, as a result of LICHTENSTEIN no longer being
able to contact his direct connections, LICHTENSTEIN indicated
that he was soliciting Officer-2, as an NYPD officer with whom
LICHTENSTEIN was familiar, for assistance.

d. Officer-2 did not agree to help LICHTENSTEIN.
After LICHTENSTEIN's approach and bribe offer to Officer-2, he
reported LICHTENSTEIN to IAB, which as noted above, is the unit of
the NYPD that investigates police misconduct.






